**RECEIVED**

**Mar 28 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

*Certiorari to Greenville County*

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Trial Judge  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
Lower Case No. 2016-CP-23-7610

---

WILLIE MARVIN WILLIAMS,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2020-000796

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County grand jury indicted Respondent Williams in April of 2013 for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2013-GS-23-3238); attempted murder (2013-GS-23-3239), and unlawful conduct towards a child (2013-GS-23-3240). W. Townes Jones, IV, Esquire, and Richard H. Warder, Esquire, represented him on the charges. A jury trial was held May 13-16, 2013, with the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson presiding. The jury convicted as charged. Judge Jefferson sentenced Williams to life for the murder, thirty years for attempted murder, and ten for unlawful conduct towards a child. (App. 677). She also imposed five years, suspended to time served, on the weapons charge given that Williams had already served over a thousand days of time, and “under certain circumstances, the possession of a firearm charge is inapplicable....” (App. 677). Williams timely appealed.

Appellate Defender David Alexander of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, Division of Appellate Defense, filed a Final Brief of Appellant on January 26, 2015, in this Court and raised the following issues:

1.

In a case where both voluntary and manslaughter and self-defense were charged to the jury, did the trial court err by excluding as hearsay a threat made by the alleged victim while holding a gun on the appellant?

2.

Did the trial court err by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter because appellant testified that the gun went off during a struggle with one of the alleged victims?

(App. 693).

The State filed its final brief in response on January 28, 2015. (App. 712-755). After oral argument held on March 9, 2016, Petitioner’s appellate counsel filed a letter with additional authority in support of the hearsay issue. (App. 758-766). On May 18, 2016, this Court affirmed

the convictions and sentence in an unpublished, per curiam opinion, *State v. Williams*, Op. No. 2016-UP-215 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 18, 2016) (per curiam), in which it summarily addressed the merits of the hearsay issue, but found the involuntary manslaughter instruction issue not preserved for a merits review. (App. 767-768). The remittitur was issued on June 3, 2016.

Williams filed his application for post-conviction relief on December 28, 2016. (App. 769). The State filed its return on October 5, 2017, moving to dismiss some of the claims raised by Williams and for a more definite statement as to others. Williams later filed amended applications, and his two PCR actions were merged. An evidentiary hearing in the matter was held before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell on December 18, 2019, at the Greenville County Courthouse. Williams was present and represented by counsel, C. Rauch Wise, Esquire. At the conclusion of the hearing, the PCR court took the matter under advisement then subsequently requested proposed orders from each party. On March 31, 2020, the PCR court issued an order denying post-conviction relief to Williams on all claims raised, save for one: that Williams' defense attorneys were constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's jury instruction on mutual combat. (App. 897-921). The PCR court denied the State's motion to alter or amend the judgment. (*See App. 922-932*). Both parties timely appealed.

The State filed a petition for writ of certiorari on November 18, 2020, in the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Williams, through counsel, filed his return on February 3, 2021. On cross appeal, Williams, through counsel, filed his petition for writ of certiorari on January 22, 2021, in the Supreme Court of South Carolina. The State filed the return on June 7, 2021. On June 29, 2021, our Supreme Court transferred the appeal to this Court.

On November 14, 2023, this Court granted the State's petition and denied Williams's petition. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

## PETITIONER'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early morning hours of July 10, 2010, Respondent Williams murdered his wife Natasha Kerns with a handgun, shot her boyfriend Anthony Wilson moments later, and endangered the lives of Kerns' minor children. There had been two domestic incidents between Williams and Kerns at the home in the past and Williams had moved out. Right before her murder, Kerns had petitioned for a restraining order against Williams and for child support. Williams had just been served with the papers. Williams was upset about having to pay child support. At the time of her death, Kerns had barricaded her front door with furniture and her back door was equipped with a security alarm. (App. 80-82; 285-87; 290-295; 300-01; 313; 340; 508-513; 554-58; 564; 574).

### *The Night of July 9, 2010 into July 10, 2010 – Williams*

On the night of July 9, 2010, Williams picked up his date Cynthia Booker and Booker's aunt and drove them in his black Chrysler 300 to a club. (App. 250, 518). The three were at the club until approximately 3:45 a.m., when Williams left Booker and her aunt suddenly. (App. 251-253). Booker saw Williams peeling his tires on his way out of the club's parking lot, leaving her and her aunt to find their own ride home. (App. 253-254).

Williams testified that he left, changed clothes to "fit in" at another club (he changed into jeans, Nike shoes, and donned his "leather jacket with ... colors ... representing [his] bike club). (App. 525-526). According to his testimony, he left that club "about 4:15, 4:30" and called Kerns but Kerns did not answer. (App. 526). He drove to the home he formerly shared with Kerns and saw a strange car in the driveway with out of state plates. (App. 526-527).

### *The Night of July 9, 2010 into July 10, 2010 – Kerns*

During the early morning hours before her murder, Kerns was in her home with her

boyfriend, Anthony Wilson. (App. 285-287). After returning from going out to eat, the two interacted with the children, talked, then went to bed. (App. 288). The children were Kerns' son "J" (age 9) and his baby sister (age 2). (App. 86-89). "J" had his own bedroom where he slept, and his baby sister slept in Kerns' bedroom. (App. 288-289). Williams was the sister's father. (App. 89; 484-486).

#### *What the Victims Saw and Heard*

At trial, "J" testified that he knew something was wrong that morning when he "heard the first fire" [gunshot]. (App. 90). After hearing the shot, J. woke up, cut on the lights, cut them off, then looked out the window and saw a Chrysler 300 [Williams' car] parked outside the house. (App. 90-91). J. was able to identify this car as his sister's dad's car. (App. 91).

Wilson testified that he was awakened by dogs barking and "some ruckus going on around the outside of the house." (App. 289-290). He testified that when he woke Kerns about the noise, she grabbed her gun and went towards the front of her home. Wilson took Kerns' daughter towards her son J.'s bedroom. (App. 290-291).

Kerns called 911 on her cellphone and told the operator there is someone outside her home, that her dogs were barking, and that she had her pistol for her own protection. She also told the operator that she and her husband are going through a divorce and an order of protection is pending. She also told the operator that Williams was on her front porch. On the 911 tape, one can hear Kerns telling Williams to get away from her home. Then one can immediately hear a loud bang [the gunshot], Kerns dropped her phone, and one can hear her collapse to the floor of her living room in front of a picture window where her body was later found by police. (State's

Ex. 1 [911 call], App. 67-82, 540, 623).<sup>1</sup> Williams shot her through the front living room window. (App. 108-09, 120-22).

Wilson testified that before the first shot was fired, he heard Kerns near the front door say something about “get away from my property, get away from my house.” (App. 291). Then Anthony heard “banging on the outside” and Kerns shouting. Right after that, “it went like straight silent.” (App. 292-293). Williams then kicked or forced out an entire lower front pane of a window in a garage converted into a den. The pane did not break, but came completely dislodged from the window, where police later found it propped against the inside den wall. (App. 109, 339, 391). Williams then entered the home through this opening in the window armed with his handgun. (App. 294-95). Wilson testified Williams fired shots and “[t]he first one—I guess the first one hit” and “took [Wilson] to the ground.” (App. 295). Eventually, Wilson regained consciousness when *J.* began shaking him. He found a towel and wrapped it around his head, then made his way down the hallway. He saw Kerns “laying on the floor by the [front living room] window on her back.” He checked her pulse. The sheriff came through the back door shortly afterwards. (App. 297). Wilson had suffered a grazing shot wound to the head. (App. 298-300).

*J.* testified at trial that after he heard the first shot and saw Williams’ car outside, he left his room crawling down the hallway and found his mom lying on the living room floor. (App. 92, 527). *J.* stated he saw Williams standing over his mom shooting her. (App. 92).<sup>2</sup> *J.* testified

---

<sup>1</sup> The 911 call was entered at trial as State’s Exhibit 1 and played for the jury. (App. 79). The State’s exhibits are not only a part of the lower court record, they were also part of the direct appeal, having been designated and relied upon in argument. (*See* Appellate Case No. 2013-001152).

<sup>2</sup> *J.* was obviously confused as he was 9 years old at the time and witnessed incredible violence. His mother was found dead, on her back, in front of the living room window of her

Williams left “[a]fter he ran out of bullets.” (App. 101). *J.* explained that he knew Williams ran out of bullets because “he faced it at me” and “he shot it. He shot it at me. And then he ran out of bullets. You know how a gun says—when the bullet goes out of bullets, and then it says pssh [phonetic] and it’s out of bullets. And then he left.” (App. 104).

After committing the crimes, Williams left the residence, got into his Chrysler 300, and drove back to his home in Laurens County. Williams parked the Chrysler 300 in his garage, pushed a lawn mower behind the car, and then closed the garage door. (App. 561, 192, 576-77). He left in another vehicle, a Chevy Tahoe. (App. 543).

#### *Police Investigation*

Upon arrival, Deputy Laura Campbell of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office, along with two (2) other deputies, approached and entered the home through the kicked out window frame. (App. 109-110). Deputy Campbell described a “young boy in a pair of boxer shorts holding a very young girl that looked to be less than two (2) in a pair of pink-footed pajamas.” (App. 110-111). “They were both screaming hysterically, staring at their mother on the floor. Both were crying, screaming, Help us, and He killed my mommy.” (App. 117-118). Deputy Campbell testified there was also an adult black male in the living room that appeared to be injured with a towel around his head soaked in blood. (App. 118). As Deputy Campbell got the children out of the house, through the same window frame hole, the little boy spontaneously stated: “Willie Marvin killed my mom.” (App. 118)

Police found Kerns lying on her back in the living room of her home with a gunshot wound to her head, her phone nearby. Police also found a bullet hole in the living room front

---

home. She had only one gunshot wound; however, her shirt was covered in blood. In *J.*’s bedroom at the other end of the house, police found at least three (3) bullet holes, including in *J.*’s bunk bed. Wilson had collapsed in *J.*’s bedroom after he was shot.

window between where the curtains opened. She was lying below these curtains with her feet toward the window near the far right of the front window if one is standing in the living room of the home looking out. (App. 108-09; 120-22).

In the den, which was a converted garage, and is at the far right of the home if standing inside the residence, police found a bottom four (4) square windowpane that had been forced out and into the den, and then placed upright against a wall behind a couch. This window faces the driveway of the residence. The glass in the windowpane was not broken. The frame had been forced out and into the den by someone outside the home. The hole made by the missing four-square pane was large enough for one (1) person to crawl through and enter the home. (App. 109-110; 120).

At the other end of the ranch style home from the den, at the end of a hallway, to the right, in *J.*'s bedroom, police found several bullet holes. One (1) bullet hole was in the child's bunk-bed, and two (2) were in the ceiling. A fired bullet was collected from a wall. Also found on the carpet of this room was blood where Wilson had collapsed. No shell casings were found inside or outside the home. (App. 95; 392-401). The murder weapon was not found either.

After interviewing Wilson and "*J.*", investigators determined Williams had committed the crime. Police also interviewed members of Williams' family. Police determined Williams was a resident of Gray Court, in Laurens County. (App. 118, 323-25, 315-17, 331-33, 337, 360-64).

Sometime that morning, the Greenville County Sheriff's Office requested assistance from Laurens County police in searching for the suspect vehicle in reference to this case. (App. 154). Deputy Joshua Garrison of the Laurens County Sheriff's Office observed Williams driving a champagne Chevy Tahoe, just after noon on July 10th. Williams had switched vehicles. (App.

155).<sup>3</sup> Deputy Garrison activated his blue lights to initiate a stop of Williams' vehicle; however, Williams "sped off at a high rate of speed." (App. 156). Garrison chased Williams for approximately twenty-six (26) miles at speeds in excess of one hundred and ten (110) miles per hour. (App. 156). The car chase ended when Deputy Garrison disabled Williams' vehicle by ramming it with his patrol car. Williams was found inside the vehicle with a "knife sticking out of his chest," having tried to kill himself. (App. 157-158). The knife was removed from his chest, and he was apprehended. (App. 158). Williams was taken for treatment. (App. 327).

#### *Autopsy and Forensics*

An autopsy was performed on Kerns on July 12, 2010 by Dr. Michael Ward, Chief Medical Examiner for Greenville County. (App. 258-261). The autopsy showed Kerns suffered a gunshot wound to her face, which entered just inside of the victim's right eye, *i.e.* she was shot between the eyes. Further, the wound was surrounded by irregularly-sized superficial scratches described as intermediate target defect. This occurs when the bullet passes through another object before it strikes the person. She also suffered superficial scratches on the inside portion of her eyes which means "her eyes were open when the bullet impacted her face." (App. 262-263). Dr. Ward testified that she would have dropped virtually immediately after the wound was inflicted. (App. 264).

Forensic examination determined that Kerns was killed with a .38/9mm caliber bullet, which was not from her own handgun, which was found next to her body. When police searched Williams' residence, they found a box of five federal .38 caliber bullets. These bullets were

---

<sup>3</sup> Officer Greg Hawkins with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office warrants division testified he went to Laurens to Williams' home to find out if any of the five (5) vehicles that Williams had registered in his name were there. Officer Hawkins discovered a Chrysler 300 in Williams' garage when he arrived. The garage was closed, and a riding lawn mower was parked behind the Chrysler 300, *i.e.* Williams hid the car in his garage and attempted to make it look like he had not been anywhere in the Chrysler. (App. 320; 360-61; 576-77).

consistent in caliber and design with the fired bullet from the autopsy and the bullet recovered from the wall of *J*'s room. The .38 pistol that went with the .38 caliber bullets was never recovered. (App. 341; 360-64; 404-17).

*Williams Testimony on What Occurred in the Home*

Williams testified he approached the home, could not use his key because the storm door was locked, so he knocked repeatedly but received no answer; rather, he saw “the curtain move” then, hearing a noise behind him, turned to see a man approaching. That man pulled a gun on him. (App. 529-530). He demonstrated to the jury a maneuver he claimed was in self-defense. (App. 536). He stated: “Then the gun went off, pow.” (App. 536). Williams asserted that they “wrestled” and both fell through the glass into the home. (App. 537-538). Williams testified that the man “got away from me” perhaps dropped the weapon, but then retrieved it. (App. 537-538). He pursued the man into the home. Eventually during another tussle, the gun went off again three times and the man fell to the floor. He claimed not to be around the children when that happened. (App. 539-540). He testified he went back up the hallway and happened upon Kerns. She had no pulse. He saw her phone that showed a 911 call. He testified he “flipped out” and left. (App. 540). Williams admitted telling a friend, Tracy Irby, that he had “messed up,” and admitted the police chase. (App. 546-550).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). In particular, appellate courts “afford great deference to a PCR court’s credibility findings.” *Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 435–36 (2018) (citing *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012)). However, “[i]f no probative evidence exists to support the PCR court’s findings,” the appellate “[c]ourt will reverse.” *Lowry v. State*, 376 S.C. 499, 504, 657 S.E.2d 760, 763 (2008) (citing *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000))

As to the PCR court’s conclusions, appellate courts will “review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts,” *Smalls*, at 180-181, 819 S.E.2d at 839, and “will reverse the PCR court if its decision is controlled by an error of law,” *Frierson*, 423 S.C. at 262, 815 S.E.2d at 435–36 (citing *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

### *Review of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims*

To establish counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984); *Simpson v. Moore*, 367 S.C. 587, 595–96, 627 S.E.2d 701, 706 (2006). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome” of the trial. *Strickland*, at 694.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The PCR court erred in finding Williams' defense attorneys were constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the trial court's jury instruction on mutual combat because Williams was not entitled to a self-defense instruction and the PCR court failed to make a proper finding that Williams proved there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been different had Williams' attorneys objected to the mutual combat instruction.**

The PCR court's order granting post-conviction relief shows reversible error. The PCR court erred in its application of the *Strickland* test. Further, the critical fact-finding cited for relief lacks support in the record. Consequently, the grant of relief must be reversed. *Frierson, supra*, *Lowry, supra*.

#### The PCR Ruling:

The PCR court improperly premised a finding of ineffectiveness on the summary conclusion that the mutual combat instruction should not have been given and that it interfered with Williams' ability to present a theory of defense. (App. 913). Yet, Williams claimed self-defense in *struggling* with Wilson; he did not claim self-defense in *shooting* Wilson because Williams never testified that he had the weapon.<sup>4</sup> Williams never claimed to shoot the gun or mishandle the gun in any way. (See App. 535-536; 575; 846; 853; 856). Moreover, in a separate issue, the PCR court expressly found that South Carolina does not recognize "transferred self-defense," and also concluded there could be no *Strickland* prejudice from a failure to request a

---

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