RECEIVED

Apr 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Greenville County

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

WILLIE MARVIN WILLIAMS,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000796

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

In State v. White, 425 S.C. 304, 311–12, 821 S.E.2d 523, 527–28 (Ct. App. 2018), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

“Upon request, a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense if he has produced evidence tending to show the four elements of that defense.” Stone v. State, 294 S.C. 286, 287, 363 S.E.2d 903, 904 (1988). The four elements of self-defense are as follows:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

Davis, 282 S.C. at 46, 317 S.E.2d at 453. Respondent was entitled to a self-defense instruction.

In State v. Owens, 427 S.C. 325, 330-31, 831 S.E.2d 126, 128-129 (Ct. App. 2019), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

The defense of accident (sometimes called misadventure) protects a defendant who, while acting lawfully and with due care, unintentionally causes harm to another. The defense has three elements: (1) the harm was unintentional, (2) the defendant was acting lawfully, and (3) due care was used in the handling of the weapon. See State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 271, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011); see also State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 521, 32 S.E.2d 825, 828 (1945) (“If it be shown that the killing was unintentional; that it was done while the perpetrator was engaged in a lawful enterprise, and was not the result of negligence, the homicide will be excused on the score of accident.”). If the harm was caused by accident, the defendant is not criminally responsible because of the absence of criminal intent. It is precisely this lack of intent that separates accident from self-defense, for self-defense “admits an intentional killing, and sets up as justification a necessity to kill in order to save the accused from death or serious bodily harm, whereas a defense of homicide by accident denies that the killing was intentional.” State v. McDaniel, 68 S.C. 304, 317, 47 S.E. 384, 389 (1904). The defense of accident sometimes surfaces in homicide cases, often alongside self-defense. Despite their varying levels of intent, accident and self-defense are not always mutually exclusive defenses. See State v. White, 425 S.C. 304, 311, 821 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ct. App. 2018); State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 317, 733 S.E.2d 605, 610 (Ct. App. 2012). Of course, accident may appear in contexts far removed from self-defense. Blackstone gives the example of a man lawfully working with a hatchet when the head flies off and kills a bystander. 4 W. BLACKSTONE, COMMENTARIES *182.

The confusion in explaining the defense of accident crops up when no distinction is made between a defendant who has lawfully armed himself with a weapon in self-defense and then accidentally harms the victim (e.g., he stumbles and his finger slips and pulls the trigger) and a defendant who has lawfully armed himself with a weapon in self-defense and then intentionally harms the victim. Only the defendant in the former situation is entitled to the defense of accident, and he is also entitled to have the jury charged that his conduct in arming himself in self-defense was lawful.

Williams lawfully struggled over the gun with Wilson, in self-defense, when the gun accidentally discharged twice, once striking Kerns and once grazing Wilson. Respondent was entitled to both the self-defense instruction and the accident instruction that were properly given in this case. The defense theory was not based on a theory of “transferred self-defense” or “imperfect self-defense” but rather a combination of self-defense and accident under the facts of

this case. The unwarranted mutual combat charge, however, negated both the self-defense claim as well as the accident claim.

In State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231–32, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The doctrine of mutual combat has existed in South Carolina since at least 1843, but has fallen out of common use in recent years. The case law does establish that there must be “mutual intent and willingness to fight” to constitute mutual combat. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973). Mutual intent is “manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat.” Id. Whether or not mutual combat exists is significant because “the plea of self-defense is not available to one who kills another in mutual combat.” Id. (citing State v. Jones, 113 S.C. 134, 101 S.E. 647 (1919)). In order to claim self-defense, the defendant “must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty.” State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). Because mutual combat requires mutual intent and willingness to fight, if a defendant is found to have been involved in mutual combat, the “no fault” element of self-defense cannot be established.

In the present case there was no evidence presented of a mutual intent and willingness to fight. In State v. Bowers, 428 S.C. 21, 32, 832 S.E.2d 623, 629 (Ct. App. 2019), aff'd, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2022), the South Carolina Court of Appeals, discussing mutual combat wrote:

The antiquated doctrine was limited in its application by our supreme court in State v. Taylor. In Taylor, our supreme court required that the fight arise out of a pre-existing dispute and that the combatants be armed with deadly weapons. 356 S.C. at 233–34, 589 S.E.2d at 4. Additionally, each party must know the other is armed with a deadly weapon. Id. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 5. Moreover, it is essential that the agreement to fight be “entered into prior to the beginning of combat,” also described as an antecedent agreement to fight. 40 C.J.S. *Homicide* § 206; accord Taylor, 356 S.C. at 233, 589 S.E.2d at 4.

In the present case there was no evidence presented that Williams and Wilson had a pre-existing dispute or prior agreement to fight. There was no evidence presented that both Williams and Wilson were armed. Williams testified that Wilson approached him outside of the home, armed with a gun, Williams acted in self-defense, struggled with Wilson over the gun when it accidentally

discharged. Wilson, testified that Williams was inside the house, armed with a gun, when he started shooting at him. (App. pp. 294-295). As the courts found in Taylor and Bowers, the PCR judge correctly found there was no evidence presented of mutual combat. The trial lawyers were ineffective in failing to object to the unwarranted mutual combat charge. The record supports the PCR judge's finding that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the unwarranted mutual combat jury instruction.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "Under this prong, '[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.'" Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's finding that, under the first prong of the Strickland test, the trial lawyers' performance in failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

2. The PCR judge correctly found that Williams was prejudiced by the trial lawyers' deficient performance in failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction because the unwarranted instruction negated Williams' self-defense claim as well as his accident claim.

The unwarranted mutual combat charge negated both the self-defense claim and the accident claim. The PCR judge correctly found that Williams was prejudiced by trial counsels' deficient performance in failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction when there was no evidence of mutual combat. The PCR judge correctly found that the unwarranted mutual combat instruction negated Williams' self-defense claim writing:

In Taylor the Court found that:

Although the court charged self-defense properly in Petitioner's case, that charge was negated by the court's unwarranted charge on mutual combat. We find that the court's mutual combat charge acted as a limitation on the petitioner's ability to claim self-defense, and prejudiced him by transferring the State's burden to disprove self-defense onto the Petitioner, forcing him to prove self-defense. Id. at 235.

The same is true in the case at bar. The mutual combat charge had the impact of negating the self-defense charge, and Mr. Williams was in fact prejudiced thereby.

Further, both trial counsel testified at the Post Conviction Relief hearing that they were not familiar with the holding in Taylor. This case was tried on May 13-14, 2013. Taylor had been the law of our state for over 10 years. A reasonable criminal defense attorney should have been knowledgeable concerning the application of Taylor. In addition, even if trial counsel were not familiar with Taylor, the evidence in this case does not support mutual combat. Giving due deference to the credibility issues, the evidence does not indicate that Mr. Wilson and Mr. Williams intended to engage in mutual combat. The evidence did not support mutual combat, and trial counsel should have objected to such a charge. Under this charge, the jury was unable to fairly consider the Defendant's claim of self-defense.

The Applicant has, therefore, met his burden of proof with respect to the Mutual Combat charge.

(App. pp. 912-913). The fact that Respondent relied on a combination of self-defense and accident enhances the prejudice resulting from the unwarranted mutual combat charge as the charge negates

both. If Respondent had engaged in mutual combat, he would not be without fault and would not be entitled to self-defense. If Respondent was not acting lawfully in self-defense because of mutual combat, he would not be entitled to an accident defense. Respondent, however, was not engaged in mutual combat. The unwarranted mutual combat instruction negated both self-defense and accident.

In order to claim self-defense one must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). As the courts found in Taylor and Bowers, the PCR judge correctly found that the unwarranted mutual combat charge negated the self-defense claim as to the no fault requirement. The burden of proof was impermissibly shifted to Respondent to prove self-defense when the self-defense charge was negated by the unwarranted mutual combat charge. In Campbell v. State, 441 S.C. 361, 372, 893 S.E.2d 492, 497 (Ct. App. 2023), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote, “In Taylor, our supreme court found that the burden of proof impermissibly shifted to the defendant to prove self-defense when a self-defense ‘charge was negated by the court’s *unwarranted* charge on mutual combat.’ 356 S.C. at 235, 589 S.E.2d at 5 (emphasis added).”

Campbell is distinguished from the present case as well as from Taylor and Bowers because in Campbell the court found that the mutual combat charge was warranted writing:

In the present case, the State presented evidence to support a jury charge on mutual combat. Because the charge was warranted, Campbell's trial counsel was not deficient in failing to object to its reading alongside the circuit court's jury charge on self-defense. See Jackson, 384 S.C. at 38 n.5, 681 S.E.2d at 22 n.5 (clarifying that when “there [is] no evidence [a] victim [is] willing to engage in mutual combat[,]” charging mutual combat and self-defense creates unfair prejudice; however, “mutual combat and self-defense are [not] mutually exclusive” when mutual combat is supported by the evidence).

Campbell v. State, 441 S.C. at 372, 893 S.E.2d at 498. Unlike Campbell, in the present case the State failed to present evidence to support a jury charge on mutual combat. Charging mutual combat and self-defense in the present case created unfair prejudice.

The present case has the added element of an accident defense. An accident defense requires the element of acting lawfully. The unwarranted mutual combat charge, however, negated the element of acting lawfully in self-defense. As a result, the unwarranted mutual combat charge also negated the accident defense. The accident defense was unavailable without the predicate acting lawfully in self-defense. With the self-defense claim negated by the unwarranted mutual combat charge, the accident defense was also negated and the jury could not find that the shootings were accidental. As with the proper self-defense charge, the proper accident charge did not cure the prejudice. Charging mutual combat and self-defense and accident in the present case created unfair prejudice. Williams met his burden in showing prejudice resulting from the failure to object to the unwarranted mutual combat instruction. The PCR judge correctly granted relief.

Petitioner's reliance on language from a different section of the order denying relief with regard to a separate allegation that the trial lawyers were ineffective in failing to preserve for appellate review the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on involuntary manslaughter is misplaced. (BOP pp. 17-18; App. pp. 905-909). With regard to the involuntary manslaughter claim the PCR judge wrote, "This Court finds Applicant was not entitled to a jury instruction on involuntary manslaughter and would not have prevailed on the issue even if it had been preserved for appellate review. The evidence was not warranted based on the evidence at trial." (App. p. 909). The PCR judge determined, as a matter of law, that Respondent was not entitled to a jury instruction on involuntary manslaughter. With regard to self-defense, however, the PCR judge, citing Taylor, found that the trial judge properly charged self-defense. (App. p. 912). The trial

judge also properly charged accident. The jury, as finders of fact, should have been allowed to decide Respondent's self-defense and accident claims. The unwarranted mutual combat charge prevented the jury from considering self-defense and accident. Respondent met his burden of showing prejudice resulting from the failure to object to the unwarranted mutual combat instruction.

As discussed above in issue one, under the first prong of the Strickland test, the trial lawyers' performance in failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. There is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's finding that, under the second prong of the Strickland test, the trial lawyers' performance in failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction resulted in prejudice. The unwarranted charge negated both the self-defense claim and the defense of accident. There is a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's failure to object to the unwarranted mutual combat charge, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Williams demonstrated both deficient performance and prejudice. This Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.

3. The PCR judge correctly granted relief on all four charges of conviction – murder, attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and unlawful conduct toward a child - when all four charges were affected by the unwarranted jury instruction on mutual combat.

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